1978

Kim L. Norris et al v. A. M. Anderson : Brief of Plaintiffs-Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

AUTHORITIES CITED

12 Am.Jur.2d 922, Brokers §183

17 Am.Jur.2d 369, Contracts §31

17 Am.Jur.2d 378, Contracts §39

17 Am.Jur.2d 401, Contracts §62

74 Am.Jur.2d 597, Time §15

74 Am.Jur.2d 603, Time §20

169 A.L.R. 605: Right of Real Estate Broker,
Employed to Effect or Consummate Sale, to Compensation Where Principal Refuses or is Unable to Complete Transaction

STATUTES CITED

U.C.A. §68-3-7

U.C.A. §63-13-2

and Boley, a counter-offer of seven points was drawn up upon the stationery of Boley Realty. That document is attached to plaintiffs' Exhibit 2 as page 2. (T. 13). The document was dated January 11, 1977 and signed by Mr. and Mrs. Anderson. (T. 14). At the same time, the Andersons put an "X" through certain portions on the face of the original Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase. Mr. Anderson stated that the counter-offer took the place of the portion that had been crossed out, but that he agreed with all of the other terms of the original offer. (T. 14-15). Also on January 11, 1977, additional hand written terms to the counter-offer were added to the face of the original Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase which statement was also subscribed by the Andersons. That statement is really the key to this litigation and states as follows:

"Seller agrees to the terms above stated with the incorporation of the seven points outlined on the attached amendment sheet. Subject to buyers acceptance within five days.

Dated January 11 - 1977

A. M. Anderson
Nora S. Anderson" (P. Exhibit 2).

Mr. Bryce Taylor was present in the home of the Andersons when the counter-offers were signed and dated, and the documents were given to Mr. Taylor on January 11 to convey to the Norrises. (T. 29). Mr. Taylor was unable to convey the counter-offer to the Norrises until January 12. Finally, on January 14, 1977, the plaintiffs, through Kim Norris,

acceptance on the bottom of the second page of Exhibit 2.

That acceptance stated as follows:

"Buyer agrees to counter-offer
subject to deletion of 50' easement
and subject to seller's acceptance
of second mortgage provision contained
in original offer.

Kim L. Norris
Jan. 14, 1977"

(P. Exhibit 2).

Taylor then called Hall and told Hall that he had a conditional acceptance of the counter-offer of the Andersons and that the parties needed to get another meeting together with the Andersons. Taylor, Hall and the Andersons met on the afternoon of Saturday, January 15, 1977. (T. 16-17, 30-31). The Andersons at the time were hurrying to a church meeting but the individuals did have a short meeting in which Anderson indicated that he was not anxious to delete the two items from his counter-offer but that, he would have to consider the matter. (T. 122). Taylor recalled that the parties had agreed to communicate again on Monday, the 17th of January, concerning the transaction, (T. 34), but Mr. Anderson stated that there was nothing definite said about any meeting on the 17th. (T. 17). In any event, the spirit of the meeting on Saturday, the 15th of January was that there may be some possibility of compromise and solving the differences between the parties. (T. 32-34).

On the morning of January 17, 1977, Dean Hall called Mr. Taylor and informed him that Anderson had decided to

stick with the original seven points rather than to compromise as had been discussed on Saturday. (T. 122).

Anderson denied that he told Hall on the morning of the 17th that he would have to stand by the original counter-offer but instead testified that his communication with Hall on the morning of the 17th was to the effect that the counter-offer had expired and that the deal would be off. (T. 19-20). However, Mr. Hall testified that when he called Anderson on the morning of the 17th to see how he felt about the two provisions, that the only thing Anderson said, was, "that in no way did he want to relinquish on either point". (T. 122). Immediately thereafter, Hall called Taylor and told him what Anderson had said. (T. 123).

On the morning of January 18, 1977, Mr. Taylor called Mr. Hall and told Hall that the Norrises had accepted the Andersons' counteroffer as originally written, including all seven points. (T. 35-36, 123-124). That telephone call by Taylor to Hall was initiated after Lanny L. Norris had written on the bottom of page two of Exhibit 2, the following words:

"The buyer accepts counter-offer as written.

Lanny L. Norris

January 18, 1977.

(P. Exhibit 2).

At the same time, Mr. Norris crossed out that portion of page 2 which had previously been written by Mr. Kim

Upon communicating to Hall that the Norris' had accepted the offer as written, Mr. Taylor requested that Hall and Taylor again meet with the Andersons to get their initials on the counter-offer. Hall told Taylor that Hall would call the Andersons and arrange the meeting. Hall called about 30 minutes later and told Taylor that Anderson was engaged the night of January 18, and would not be able to meet but that they could go to Anderson's place on the morning of January 19. (T 36).

The following morning, Taylor and Hall went to the Anderson home with Mr. Hall arriving some time prior to Taylor. As soon as Taylor arrived, he was told by Hall that Hall was presenting another offer from Mr. Boley to the Andersons and that the Andersons were considering that offer at that point. Some time thereafter, Mr. Paul Taylor, father of Bryce Taylor, also arrived at the Anderson home. (T. 37). Taylor had exhibit 2 with him at the meeting on top of his file or in his opened file which was on top of his briefcase. (T. 48). The meeting terminated when Mr. Anderson indicated that he was not accepting anyone's offer and refused further negotiations. Later, on the afternoon of the 19th, Kim and Lanny Norris visited with Anderson at which time Anderson told them that if they had accepted within five days, "they would have bought the place." (T. 24).

Mr. Bryce Taylor subsequently sent a completed copy of the Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase including page 2 as signed and modified by all of the parties to

the Andersons that was received by Mr. Anderson on February 17, 1977.

After trial of the matter, the court found that the offer originally submitted by the Norris brothers was rejected by the Andersons on January 11, 1977 at which time a counter-offer was made "subject to buyers acceptance within five days". The court also found that the "conditional acceptance" of the plaintiffs of January 14, was discussed by the parties, both through the real estate agents and at the meeting of January 15, between the Andersons, Hall and Taylor. The court found that there was no acceptance of the counter-offer at that meeting although there was some discussion that a solution to the problem of the right-of-way and the second mortgage provision may be had but that the Andersons wished to consider those matters further. There was also a finding that on the 17th of January, the Andersons advised Hall that they could not delete the two conditions and that the counter-offer as submitted was all the Andersons would accept.

The Court held that pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §68-3-8, the 16th of January being a Sunday was not counted so that the plaintiffs had through the 17th of January to accept the counteroffer of the defendants. There was a further finding that the "conditional acceptance" of the plaintiffs contained in the four lines which were crossed out on the second page of Exhibit 2 amounted to a rejection of the counter-offer, which could not, by a subsequent act

of the rejecting offeree, be accepted in the original form of the counter-offer. The Court made no specific findings or comments as to the second cause of action of the plaintiffs' complaint concerning the real estate commission but the Court dismissed both the first and second cause of action of the plaintiffs' complaint. (R. 34-36, 17-20).

It is the plaintiffs' contention that the trial court erred in failing to compel specific performance by the defendants and erred in failing to award a commission to the plaintiff, Taylor National Real Estate Company.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO COMPEL SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

The trial court based its decision to dismiss the first cause of action of plaintiffs' complaint, upon three premises:

(1) That the plaintiffs did not accept defendants' counter-offer within the time period required by the terms of the counter-offer;

(2) That the conditional acceptance of the plaintiffs was in reality a rejection of the counter-offer and a new offer and therefore, the original offer could not be subsequently accepted, and

(3) That there was no conduct on the part of defendants to either extend the five day period or that constituted a waiver of that limitation. (R. 17-20, 34-36).

The plaintiffs claim there was timely acceptance by them and that the Court should have compelled specific

performance.

Because of the various transactions between the parties, it is difficult to put a rigorous legal label upon each of the transactions so that it becomes a "offer", "counter-offer", etc. Plaintiffs submit, however, that the only logical interpretation of the actions of the parties is that there was an original offer submitted by the plaintiffs on January 7, 1977, which was rejected by the counter-offer of the defendants dated January 11, 1977. There was a conditional acceptance of the counter-offer on January 14, 1977, which conditional acceptance was, in fact, a counter-offer to the counter-offer. The defendants rejected the counter-offer or conditional acceptance by reaffirming or reinstating their original counter-offer. That reinstatement happened on January 17, 1977 and that reinstatement became a third counter-offer which was ultimately accepted on January 18, 1977. This characterization of the activities of the parties is supported by the general rules found at 17 Am Jur 2d, 378, Contracts, §39;

An offer is rejected by a counter-offer, and in this respect a qualified or conditional acceptance constitutes a counter-offer.

And, 17 Am. Jur. 2d 401 Contracts, §62:

"If a condition is affixed to the acceptance by the party to whom the offer is made, or any modification of or change in the offer is made or requested, there is a rejection of the offer which puts an end to the negotiation, unless the party who made the original offer renews it or assents to the modification suggested."

This general principle is supported by the case of Burton v. Coombs, 557 P.2d 148 (Utah 1976), which was so heavily relied upon by the defendants at trial. In that case, the plaintiffs asked the Supreme Court to compel the defendants to honor an acceptance of a settlement offer which was communicated to the defendants prior to trial, but which was rejected by the plaintiffs. Plaintiffs claimed that during the trial the offer was renewed and that the plaintiffs were therefore entitled to accept the offer of settlement and bind the defendants thereto. The court held, however, that there was no reinstatement of the offer by the defendants, and therefore, there was nothing to be accepted by the plaintiffs. In so holding, the Supreme Court implied that where there has been a reinstatement an offer after it has been rejected, it is susceptible to acceptance. The court stated:

Plaintiffs, by their words and expressly refusing the offer tendered at the beginning of trial and by their conduct in proceeding with litigation, effectively terminated the rights and liability of the parties to the proposed settlement. It was impossible for plaintiffs to assert acceptance at a later time unless defendants had expressly renewed their offer, and the record does not show that this was done.

In the present case there was a firm and absolute renewal of the counter-offer by the defendants on January 17, 1977, and the plaintiffs accepted the counter-offer on January 18, 1977.

The five day period was not expressly mentioned in the reinstatement of the counter-offer, but even if the five day

requirement was reinstated on the 17th with the renewal of the offer, the plaintiffs, of course, accepted within the five day period.

If the Court determines that the original counter-offer of January 11th is the controlling offer, then the plaintiffs' timely accepted in any event.

While the offer stated that it was "subject to buyers acceptance within five days", it did not state when the five day period commenced to run. The question is "within five days from what?"

While the counter-offer was signed and dated January 11, 1977, the five day period did not commence to run until the counter-offer was actually received by the purchasers. It is undisputed in the present case that the Norris' did not have a counter-offer in their hands until January 12, 1977. Since an offer is not considered made until it is actually received by the offeree, 17 Am.Jur.2d 369, Contracts §31, the condition that the purchaser accept "within five days" had no meaning until the offer was received by the Norrises. In other words, the Norrises were entitled to accept "within five days" after the offer was received by them.

It is general rule that when an act is required to be performed within a specified period of time, the rule is to exclude the first day and to exclude Sunday's, if the period of time is less than seven days. These rules are generally stated as follows:

Formerly, where a computation of time was to be made from an act done or from the time of an act, the day when the act was done was to be included. However, at the present time, both in the construction of contracts and statutes as well as in matters of practice when time is to be computed from a particular day or when an act is to be performed within a specified period from or after a day named, the rule is to exclude the first day and to include the last day of the specified period, except when a certain number of the entire days are required to intervene, in which case both the first and last days are excluded. In many jurisdictions, the rule excluding the first day and including the last is incorporated in statutes defining computation of time. Under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, in computing periods of time prescribed by order of court or by any applicable statute, the day of the act, event, or default after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included, but the last day of the period so computed is to be included unless it is Sunday or a legal holiday. In the absence of anything showing an intention to count only "clear" or "entire" days, it is generally held that in computing the time for performance of an act or event which must take place a certain number of days before a known future day, one of the terminal days is included in the count and the other is excluded. However, a computation made by excluding both first and last days has frequently been employed, either as a general rule in some jurisdictions, or, in other jurisdictions, where it appears that there was an intention to count only "clear" or "entire" days.

In the absence of a controlling statutory provision, which fixes an absolute rule of computation, the courts will as a general rule adopt that construction which will uphold and enforce, rather than destroy, bona fide transactions and titles; whenever it is necessary to prevent a forfeiture or to effectuate the clear intention of the parties, the dies a quo will be included. Further, where it is provided that a certain result shall not accrue until after the expiration of a given number of days from a stated date, then both the first and last days must be excluded, so that the full number of days will be allowed.

74 Am. Jr. 2d 597, Time §15.

Where a limitation of time is fixed by statute within which an act is required to be performed, and the time stipulated for performance does not exceed a week, Sunday will be excluded in the computation of the time without an express statutory requirement to that effect; but when the time stipulated must necessarily include one or more Sundays, those days will not be excluded, in the absence of an express proviso for their exclusion. This general principle is held applicable to contracts, by a number of authorities, so that where an act is required to be done in a certain number of days exceeding a week, Sunday is included in the computations; but if the number of days is less than 7, Sunday is not counted.

74 Am. Jur. 2d 603, Time § 20.

This general rule is supported in Utah by statutes as follows:

U.C.A. 68-3-7, Time, how computed.

The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day and including the last, unless the last is a holiday, and then it is also excluded.

U.C.A. 63-13-2 Legal Holidays-Governor Authorized to Declare Additional Days.

* * *

(2) For the period beginning with the effective date of this act, [Feb. 6, 1970], the following-named days are legal holidays in this state: every Sunday * * *

In the present case, the only days that would be counted would be January 13, 14, 15, 17, and 18. Since the plaintiffs' unqualified acceptance was communicated to the defendants on January 18, they are entitled to specific performance of the contract.

POINT II

THE PLAINTIFF, TAYLOR NATIONAL REAL ESTATE, IS ENTITLED TO A COMMISSION FOR FINDING A BUYER WHO WAS READY, WILLING AND ABLE TO PURCHASE.

The common way for a seller to employ real estate brokers to sell his property is to list the property with a multiple listing service, thereby giving the seller the benefit of the efforts of several brokers and agents. The relevant portions of the listing agreement currently used by the Utah County Board of Realtors, and the ones with which we are concerned in the present case are as follows:

In consideration of your agreement to list the property described herein and to use reasonable efforts to find a purchaser or tenant therefor, I hereby grant you for the period of six months from date hereof the exclusive right to sell, lease or exchange said property or any part thereof, at the price and terms stated hereon, or at such other price or terms to which I may agree in writing. During the life of this contract, if you find a party who is ready, able and willing to buy, lease or exchange said property or any part thereof, at said price and terms, or any other price or terms, to which I may agree in writing, or if said property or any part thereof is sold, leased or exchanged during said term by myself or any other party, I agree to pay you a commission of six percent for such sale, lease or exchange. Should said property be sold, leased or exchanged within six months after such expiration to any party to who the property was offered or shown by me, or you, or any other party during the terms of this listing, I agree to pay you the commission above stated.

* * *

In case of the employment of an attorney to enforce any of the terms of this agreement, I agree to pay a reasonable attorney's fee and all costs of collection.

You are hereby authorized and instructed to offer this property thru the Multiple Listing Service of the Utah County Board of Realtors.

* * *

The Courts of Utah have long recognized the general rule that under a listing agreement which requires a real estate broker to find a buyer who is ready, willing and able to buy, the broker is entitled to a commission when he finds such a buyer, even if the transaction is not actually consummated. Curtis v. Mortensen, 1 Utah 2d 354, 267 P.2d 237 (1954); Garff Realty Co. v. Better Buildings, Inc., 120 Utah 344, 234 P.2d 842 (1951); Reich v. Christopulos, 123 Utah 137, 256 P.2d 238 (1953); Ogden Savings Bank and Trust Co. v. Blakely, 66 Utah 229, 241 P.2d 1 (1925); Martineau v. Hanson, 47 Utah 549, 155 P.432 (1916).

In Curtis v. Mortensen, supra, the plaintiff real estate broker secured a six month listing agreement from the defendant seller which provided that if a buyer was found who was ready, willing and able to buy the property, a commission would be paid. A purchaser was found within the six month period and an earnest money agreement was signed by the salesman as agent for the buyers and was signed by the sellers. Thereafter, the sellers rescinded the earnest money agreement and attempted to rescind the listing agreement. The sellers refused to sell to the potential buyers and the deal collapsed. The broker brought an action to recover his commission under the listing agreement. The broker appealed from a trial court decision adverse to him and the Supreme Court reversed in his favor. The Court held:

The sale was never consummated because respondents changed their minds and refused to sell and not because the buyers refused to make a binding agreement. Under such circumstances appellants have fulfilled their part of the listing agreement by having produced purchasers who were ready, willing and able to buy the listed property and are entitled to their commission. Such were the terms of the listing agreement made by the parties. There was no requirement that a binding contract be entered into and for us to add that requirement would be to make a new contract for them. This we may not do. As stated in 8 Am. Jur. Sec. 184, page 1097:

"Once the broker has procured a person who is able, ready and willing to purchase on the terms offered by the owner, he is entitled to commission, even though the failure to complete the contract is due to the default or refusal of the employer."

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