1978

Kim L. Norris et al v. A. M. Anderson : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DEFENDANTS' COUNTER-OFFER WAS REJECTED BY PLAINTIFFS' QUALIFIED AND CONDITIONAL ACCEPTANCE, AND COULD NOT BE REVIVED IN ITS ORIGINAL FORM BY A SUBSEQUENT ACCEPTANCE.

It must first be remembered that the facts of this case must be viewed in the light most favorable to the judgment entered by the trial court, which is presumed to be correct, and that such judgment should be sustained, unless the evidence clearly preponderates against it. Stucki v. Stucki, 562 P. 2d 240 (Utah 1977); Fisher v. Taylor, 572 P. 2d 393 (Utah 1977); Oberhansly v. Earle, 572 P. 2d 1384 (Utah 1977).

It is elementary contract law that a binding contract can exist only where there has been mutual assent by the parties, manifesting their intention to be bound by its terms. Allen v. Bissinger & Co., 62 Utah 226, 219 P. 539, 31 A.L.R. 376 (1923); Bunnell v. Bills, 13 Utah 2d 83, 368 P. 2d 597 (1962). Furthermore, there is no liability to perform a specified act until the person to whom an offer has been made has accepted it according to its terms. 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 32 (1964).

When the plaintiffs first tendered their original offer, dated January 7, 1977, its terms were so contrary to the requirements of the listing agreement (Exhibit "1") that the defendant, Mr. Anderson, rejected it outright. (Tr., pp. 13, 95) That act terminated and destroyed plaintiffs' offer, and the trial court so found. The Andersons then formulated their seven-point counter-offer, which was signed, dated, and pre-

sented to Bryce Taylor agent for the Norris brothers, on

Sponsored by the Utah State Library, a project funded in part by the National Endowment for the Humanities and the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

Tuesday, January 11, 1977, thereby replacing the plaintiffs' original offer. 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 40 (1964). Thus, the defendants' counter-offer is the only viable offer or counter-offer with which we are concerned in this case. When, therefore, on Friday, January 14, 1977, Kim L. Norris allegedly accepted five of the seven points of the defendants' counter-offer, but rejected two of the conditions specified therein, the defendants' counter-offer was thereby terminated. The trial court specifically held that this qualified and conditional acceptance amounted to a rejection of the Andersons' counter-offer:

Any words or acts of the offeree indicating that he declines the offer, or which justify the offeror in inferring that the offeree intends not to accept the offer or give it further consideration, amounts to a rejection. ...Likewise, the preparation of a new contract with different terms and provisions for consideration of the offeror is a rejection of his offer. An offer is rejected by a counter-offer, and in this respect a qualified or conditional acceptance constitutes a counter-offer. ... (Emphasis added.) 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 39 (1964).

The acceptance of an offer which is necessary to create a binding contract requires manifestation of unconditional agreement to all of the terms of the offer, and intent to be bound thereby, and must not add any new material conditions thereto or deviate therefrom. R. J. Daum Constr. Co. v. Child, 122 Utah 194, 247 P. 2d 817 (1952); Williams v. Espey, 11 Utah 2d 317, 358 P. 2d 903 (1961). Here, where plaintiffs' qualified and conditional acceptance was specifically made subject to deletion of a 50-foot easement and subject also to seller's acceptance of the second mortgage provision

contained in the plaintiffs' original offer, and Mr. Anderson adamantly refused to delete either point from his counter-offer, no meeting of the minds was reached, and, consequently, the defendants' counter-offer was rejected.

As a result of such rejection, the trial court specifically found that the defendants' counter-offer could not, by a subsequent act of the rejecting offeree (L.K.L. Associates), be accepted in its original form:

An offer is terminated by rejection and cannot thereafter be accepted so as to create a contract. Having once rejected the offer, the offeree cannot revive it by tendering acceptance. (Emphasis added.) 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 39 (1964).

In Burton v. Coombs, 557 P. 2d 148 (Utah 1976), this Court held that, if an offer is rejected by refusal, conditional acceptance, or by counter-offer, the party making the original offer is relieved from liability, and the party who rejected the offer cannot, of his own volition, create an agreement by his subsequent acceptance:

We hold, therefore, as a matter of law, defendants were not bound by an offer which had been unequivocally rejected by plaintiffs and which had not been renewed prior to plaintiffs' subsequent attempt to effect an acceptance. (Emphasis added.) 557 P. 2d at 150.

Plaintiffs make some claim that there was a "firm and absolute renewal" or reinstatement by defendants of their original counter-offer on Monday, January 17, 1977. There is no competent evidence to support such an assertion, and the trial court specifically so found.

First, on Saturday, January 15, 1977, when Bryce Taylor attempted to persuade the Andersons to delete the two points

of their counter-offer which the Norris brothers had found unacceptable, Mr. Anderson adamantly refused to do so, and declared that the counter-offer had to be accepted by the Norris brothers exactly as written. (Tr., pp. 16-17, 98-99, 104-105, 111-112, 113, 121-122)

Furthermore, on Monday, January 17, 1977, when Dean Hall called Mr. Anderson back to see how he felt about the plaintiffs' purported qualified and conditional acceptance of his counter-offer, Mr. Anderson still refused to bend on either of the two points of his counter-offer, and reiterated that he would only accept it as written and submitted. (Tr., pp. 122, 137) Then, after Mr. Hall called back and informed him of Bryce Taylor's words, "The Norris brothers can do no more," Mr. Anderson told Dean Hall that the counter-offer had expired, and that the deal was off. Despite repeated and insistent questioning by plaintiffs' counsel (the identical issue having been previously raised by plaintiffs in their Motion to Compel Answers to Oral Interrogatories, which Motion was denied by the trial court), Mr. Anderson's clear and unequivocal testimony is that, on Monday, January 17, 1977, he did not say that he would stand on the counter-offer. (Tr., pp. 18-20)

In the face of this un rebutted evidence, the trial court found that the communication back to Taylor was that the counter-offer as submitted was all that the Andersons would agree to. In its Decision dated February 14, 1978, the court held:

The plaintiffs' contention that conduct of the defendants either by word or action extended the five-day period on the counter-offer, or in any manner constituted a waiver of that limitation, is without support in the evidence, and plaintiffs have failed to prove these contentions. (Emphasis added.)

In light of the foregoing, respondents respectfully submit that the defendants' counter-offer was terminated and rejected by plaintiffs' qualified and conditional acceptance dated January 14, 1977; that it was unequivocally rejected on January 17, 1977, when Bryce Taylor informed the defendants, through Dean Hall, that "the Norris brothers can do no more"; and that it could not be revived in its original form by a purported subsequent acceptance. Burton v. Coombs, supra.

POINT II

THE COUNTER-OFFER OF DEFENDANTS EXPIRED BEFORE PLAINTIFFS PURPORTED TO ACCEPT IT.

Plaintiffs next contend that their purported acceptance of defendants' counter-offer was made within the time limit prescribed therein. It is undisputed that all parties concerned clearly understood the nature and consequences of that limitation. On Tuesday, January 11, 1977, at the Andersons' direction, Bryce Taylor himself, agent for the Norris brothers, drafted the language of defendants' counter-offer (Exhibit "2"), "Subject to buyer's acceptance within five days" (Tr., pp. 28-29, 41-42, 95-97, 119-120), and the Andersons affixed that date (January 11, 1977) to their counter-offer.

On Saturday, January 15, 1977, Mr. Anderson told Bryce Taylor that the Norris brothers still had one day left before the expiration of the five-day limit on the counter-offer, and that he would honor his commitment until that time. (Tr., pp. 104-105, 113) When asked what he meant by that statement, Mr. Anderson specifically declared that the acceptance had to be within the five-day period. (Tr., p. 110) Moreover, when Kim and Lanny Norris stopped by the Andersons' home on Wednesday, January 19, 1977, Mr. Anderson told them that, if they had unconditionally accepted his counter-offer within the time limit, they would have bought the property, and each of the Norris brothers acknowledged that statement. (Tr., pp. 22-24, 66-69, 72, 103-104)

It is clear, therefore, that apart from any considerations of rejection by the plaintiffs, Norris, of the defendants'

counter-offer, where the Andersons fixed a specific time limit of five days, within which time plaintiffs were required to accept their counter-offer, and at the same time dated such counter-offer, it expired by its own terms upon the lapse of those five days without unconditional acceptance thereof:

The time within which an acceptance must be made is correlative with the duration of the offer. An offeree's power of acceptance continues until terminated by acceptance or rejection or by any other means regarded as effective by law. The proposer may limit the time for acceptance, since every person has the right to dictate the terms upon which he will contract, and an offer which specifies a time for its duration terminates by the lapse of the time specified therein; the acceptance must take place within that time. ... (Emphasis added.) 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 56 (1964).

If the terms of an offer to buy or sell real estate stipulate that the acceptance of such offer is to be made within a certain time, it is essential, in order to constitute a binding contract, for the offeree to communicate his acceptance within the time stipulated; upon the lapse of such time the offer terminates ipso facto, and acceptance thereafter is of no legal effect. ... (Emphasis added.) 77 Am. Jur. 2d Vendor and Purchaser § 20 (1975).

The Utah statute regarding computation of time, Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-7, prescribes:

The time in which any act provided by law is to be done is computed by excluding the first day and including the last, unless the last is a holiday, and then it also is excluded.

Thus, the defendants' counter-offer, dated Tuesday, January 11, 1977, would have expired by its own terms five days later, on Sunday, January 16, 1977. However, under Utah Code Ann. § 63-13-2, every Sunday is deemed to be a legal holiday. Therefore, the trial court found that

Sunday, January 16, 1977, was not counted, so that plaintiffs had through Monday, January 17, 1977, to accept the defendants' counter-offer, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-8:

Whenever any act of a secular nature, other than a work of necessity or mercy, is appointed by law or contract to be performed upon a particular day, which day falls upon a holiday, such act may be performed upon the next succeeding business day with the same effect as if it had been performed upon the day appointed. (Emphasis added.)

The evidence is further undisputed that on Monday, January 17, 1977, when Dean Hall called Bryce Taylor and told him that Mr. Anderson refused to bend on either of the two points of his counter-offer, Mr. Taylor replied, "The Norris brothers can do no more." (Tr., pp. 34-35, 47, 122-123, 137-138) When Bryce Taylor's words were relayed back to Mr. Anderson, he told Dean Hall that the counter-offer had expired, and that the deal was off. (Tr., pp. 18-20)

More importantly, on Tuesday, January 18, 1977, after the Norris brothers had purportedly accepted the defendants' counter-offer, for the first time unconditionally, Bryce Taylor himself acknowledged to Dean Hall that the acceptance was late. (Tr., pp. 36, 124)

Finally, the evidence is clear that neither the Andersons nor Dean Hall ever saw or received the plaintiffs' purported acceptance in writing, dated Tuesday, January 18, 1977, until one month later, on February 17, 1977, after this lawsuit was filed, when they received it by mail. (Tr., pp. 15, 50, 99, 124-125) During that entire time, such purported written acceptance remained in the exclusive possession and control of the plaintiffs, subject to their power and opportunity

to do with as they saw fit.

In view of this evidence, the trial court held that "The plaintiffs did not accept defendants' counter-offer on the 17th of January, which was the 6th day after the counter-offer had been made by defendants." Under the best view of plaintiffs' evidence, no acceptance was made until Tuesday, January 18, 1977, which acceptance was not communicated in writing to defendants until one month later.

Mr. Anderson clearly intended for his counter-offer to expire within five days, and such provision must be construed in accordance with the intention of the parties. 17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 329 (1964). Thus, even if the counter-offer was not terminated and rejected by plaintiffs' qualified and conditional acceptance of Friday, January 14, 1977, it nevertheless expired after five days by its own terms.

The Norris brothers constituted Bryce Taylor as their agent to convey their original offer to the defendants on January 7, 1977, and, by so doing, also constituted him as their agent to receive, on their behalf, any acceptance or rejection thereof or other response thereto. The delivery of the defendants' signed and dated counter-offer to Mr. Taylor on January 11, 1977, was, therefore, tantamount to delivery of the same to the Norris brothers (L.K.L. Associates) on that date, and the time limited therein for acceptance thereof commenced to run on the date of such delivery (Tuesday, January 11, 1977).

POINT III

PLAINTIFFS NEVER PRODUCED A BUYER WHO WAS READY, WILLING, AND ABLE TO PURCHASE THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ACCORDING TO THE TERMS OF THE LISTING.

Without exception, every authority relied upon by plaintiffs in their brief states that a broker is entitled to a commission when he finds a buyer who is ready, willing, and able to purchase, but only according to the terms specified in the listing agreement. On the other hand, a broker is not entitled to the compensation called for by his contract of employment until he produces a person who is ready, willing, and able both to accept and live up to the terms offered by his principal. Watson v. Odell, 58 Utah 276, 198 P. 772, 20 A.L.R. 280 (1921); 12 Am. Jur. 2d Brokers § 183 (1964).

Such ability to perform by a prospective purchaser is defined as follows:

...[I]t is clear in general that the proposed purchaser must have the legal capacity to purchase, in addition to having sufficient financial ability not only to make the initial payment required to meet the terms of the seller, but also to complete the contract of purchase according to its terms -- that is, to meet any deferred payments. ... (Emphasis added.) 12 Am. Jur. 2d Brokers § 184 (1964).

Even if plaintiffs were financially able to meet the terms specified by defendants, their offer never complied with such terms. The listing agreement, Exhibit "1", specified a total sales price of \$250,000.00, with a down payment of \$40,000.00, and terms for the payment of the balance to be negotiated with the seller. Bryce Taylor himself admitted that the plaintiffs' original offer, Exhibit "2", dated January 7, 1977, was not in conformity with those terms.

(Tr., pp. 40, 95)

The Sales Agency Contract itself, Exhibit "1", entitles a broker to his commission, as cited in plaintiffs' brief, only when he procures a party ready, willing, and able to buy "at the price and terms stated hereon, or at such other price or terms to which I may agree in writing." (Emphasis added.)

Plaintiffs' offer pursuant to the said listing agreement, dated January 7, 1977 (Exhibit "2"), consisted of \$5,000.00 down and \$15,000.00 payable on January 30, 1977, which constituted only one-half of the down payment required by the listing agreement. Such proposal was never agreed to by defendants. Instead, the first of the seven points of their counter-offer (attached as page two of Exhibit "2") was for \$25,000.00 down. This counter-offer, as previously discussed under Points I and II, supra, was first rejected on January 14, 1977, by plaintiffs' qualified and conditional acceptance; expired by its own terms after the lapse of five days; and was expressly and unequivocally rejected on January 17, 1977, by the words, "the Norris brothers can do no more." No unconditional acceptance was ever communicated to the defendants until after January 17, 1977, and, in fact, was ever delivered to the defendants in writing until one month had elapsed.

Plaintiffs' original, and all subsequent offers through January 17, 1977, were clearly at odds with the terms authorized by defendants, as sellers, in their listing agreement.

Thus:

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